Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Arrhythmia



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/joa

Review Molecular pathogenesis of long QT syndrome type 2

Jennifer L. Smith, BS^a, Corey L. Anderson, PhD^b, Don E. Burgess, PhD^a, Claude S. Elayi, MD^c, Craig T. January, MD, PhD^b, Brian P. Delisle, PhD(Associate Professor)^{a,*}

^a Department of Physiology, Cardiovascular Research Center, Center for Muscle Biology, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

^b Cellular and Molecular Arrhythmia Research Program, University of Wisconsin, Madison, WI, USA

^c Department of Cardiology, Gill Heart Institute, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 2 September 2015 Received in revised form 21 October 2015 Accepted 17 November 2015 Available online 22 January 2016

Keywords: Long QT syndrome Ion channel Trafficking KCNH2 hERG

ABSTRACT

The molecular mechanisms underlying congenital long QT syndrome (LQTS) are now beginning to be understood. New insights into the etiology and therapeutic strategies are emerging from heterologous expression studies of LQTS-linked mutant proteins, as well as inducible pluripotent stem cell derived cardiomyocytes (iPSC-CMs) from LQTS patients. This review focuses on the major molecular mechanism that underlies LQTS type 2 (LQT2). LQT2 is caused by loss of function (LOF) mutations in *KCNH2* (also known as the *human Ether-à-go-go-Related Gene* or *hERG*). Most LQT2-linked mutations are missense mutations and functional studies suggest that \sim 90% of them disrupt the intracellular transport (trafficking) of *KCNH2*-encoded Kv11.1 proteins to the cell membrane. Trafficking deficient LQT2 mutations disrupt Kv11.1 protein folding and misfolded Kv11.1 proteins are retained in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) until they are degraded in the ER associated degradation pathway (ERAD). This review focuses on the quality control mechanisms in the ER that contribute to the folding and ERAD of Kv11.1 proteins; the mechanism for ER export of Kv11.1 proteins in the secretory pathway; different subclasses of trafficking deficient LQT2 mutations; and strategies being developed to mitigate or correct trafficking deficient LQT2-related phenotypes.

© 2016 Japanese Heart Rhythm Society. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introd	luction	374
	1.1.	Congenital long QT syndrome	374
	1.2.	Kv11.1 and the long QT syndrome type 2	374
2.	Kv11.1	biogenesis and ER export	375
	2.1.	K ⁺ channel biogenesis	375
	2.2.	Kv11.1: assembly required	375
	2.3.	Chaperones facilitate Kv11.1a folding and degradation	375
	2.4.	ER export	376
3.	Molec	ular mechanism of class 2 LQT2 mutations	376
	3.1.	Class 2 LQT2 mutations.	376
	3.2.	Temperature correction	377
	3.3.	Pharmacological correction	377
	3.4.	Subclasses of class 2 mutations	377
	3.5.	Chaperones interact with Kv11.1 channels affected by class 2 LQT2 mutations	377
	3.6.	Sequestration of proteins affected by class 2 LQT2 mutations	378
	3.7.	Patient-specific cellular models for class 2 LQT2	378
4.	Conclusions		378
	4.1.	Summary	378
	4.2.	In memoriam of Dr. Eckhard Ficker	379

* Correspondence to: 800 Rose Street, MS508, Lexington, KY 40536, USA. Tel.: +1 859 323 2797; fax: +1 859 323 1070.

E-mail addresses: jenny@uky.edu (J.L. Smith), clander2@wisc.edu (C.L. Anderson), deburgess@uky.edu (D.E. Burgess), samy-claude.elayi@uky.edu (C.S. Elayi), ctj@medicine.wisc.edu (C.T. January), brian.delisle@uky.edu (B.P. Delisle).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.joa.2015.11.009

^{1880-4276/© 2016} Japanese Heart Rhythm Society. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Conflict of interest	. 379
Acknowledgments	. 379
References	. 379

1. Introduction

1.1. Congenital long QT syndrome

Long QT syndrome (LQTS) is a condition characterized by delayed ventricular and atrial repolarization, prolongation of the QT interval on an electrocardiogram (ECG), and an increased risk for the potentially fatal tachyarrhythmia Torsades de Pointes [1]. The first description of congenital LQTS probably dates back to Dr. Friedrich Ludwig Meissner's account of a deaf schoolgirl who died suddenly while being publically scolded in 1856 (Fig. 1) (http:// www.qtsyndrome.ch/history.html). A century later, autosomal dominant LQTS (Romano-Ward Syndrome) was described as the major variant and a phenotypic diagnostic score based on patient ECG characteristics, symptoms, and family history was developed [2]. In the decades that followed, genetic mutations in cardiac ion channel related genes, as well as an increasing number of drugs, have been recognized to cause LQTS. Additionally, the major monogenic causes of congenital LQTS were identified: KCNQ1 (LQT1), KCNH2 (LQT2), and SCN5A (LQT3) [3-9]. LQT1-LQT3 make up \sim 90% of the genetically confirmed cases, and each type has distinct triggers, penetrance, and responsiveness to therapy [10]. Genetic testing for LOTS is commercially available and a genotype positive test for an unequivocal pathogenic LQTS mutation influences important clinical decisions [11].

1.2. Kv11.1 and the long QT syndrome type 2

KCNH2 (also known as the *human Ether-à-go-go-Related Gene* or *hERG*) encodes the voltage-gated K⁺ (Kv) channel α-subunit Kv11.1. Four Kv11.1 α-subunits co-assemble into a tetrameric ion channel that conducts the rapidly activating delayed rectifier K⁺ current (I_{Kr}) in the heart [4,7]. Loss-of-function (LOF) *KCNH2* mutations decrease I_{Kr} in type 2 LQTS (LQT2) [7,12,13]. The extent by which I_{Kr} is impacted in LQT2 is mutation-specific. It ranges from a small reduction in I_{Kr} to a nearly complete loss in I_{Kr} . Haploinsufficient mutations results in a LOF of the affected allele, whereas dominant negative (DN) mutations cause a LOF in the affected allele and negatively impact the function of the Kv11.1 proteins encoded by the normal or wild type (WT) allele. The QT interval is a reflection of the ventricular action potential (AP) durations to show the impact that a

30% or 70% reduction in $I_{\rm Kr}$ has on the steady-state AP duration at different cycle lengths (Fig. 2) [14]. The prolongation in the AP duration is much more severe for the simulations with the 70% reduction in $I_{\rm Kr}$. Consistent with this result, DN LQT2 mutations located in the pore region are linked to an increased risk for arrhythmic events in patients [15].

The mechanisms by which *KCNH2* mutations cause a LOF is understood in terms of the biophysical components that underlie macroscopic current (*I*) [16]. By definition, *I* is a product of the number of channels expressed in the cell membrane (*n*), channel open probability (Po), and the amplitude of the single channel current (*i*), so that $I=(n) \times (Po) \times (i)$ [17]. A LOF in one of these biophysical components can be used to classify LQT2-linked Kv11.1 mutations. Class 1 mutations disrupt the synthesis/translation of Kv11.1 α -subunits (decrease *n*); Class 2 mutations reduce the intracellular transport or trafficking of Kv11.1 proteins to the cell membrane (decrease *n*); Class 3 mutations disrupt Kv11.1 channel gating (decrease Po); and Class 4 mutations negatively affect K⁺ permeation (decrease i).

About 40% of LQT2-linked KCNH2 mutations are nonsense mutations, frameshift mutations, insertions, deletions, duplications, or involve a splice site that inhibits Kv11.1 protein synthesis/translation by generating incomplete proteins or causing nonsensemediated RNA decay (NMD) (class 1 mechanism) [18-20]. By provoking NMD, class 1 mutations are expected to cause haploinsufficiency. The remaining \sim 60% of LQT2 mutations are missense, where a single nucleotide change alters an amino acid codon to a different amino acid to cause a LOF by disrupting channel trafficking to the cell membrane (class 2 mechanism), gating (class 3 mechanism), and/or single channel current (class 4 mechanism) [16,20-27]. Over 150 suspected LQT2-causing missense mutations have been studied using heterologous expression systems and these studies demonstrate that \sim 90% of LQT2-linked missense mutations disrupt Kv11.1 channel function via a class 2 mechanism (Fig. 3) [20-28]. Class 2 LQT2 mutations decrease the folding efficiency of Kv11.1 proteins and increase their retention in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) by cellular quality control mechanisms.

This review focuses on the molecular mechanisms of the class 2 LQT2 phenotype. We summarize several findings for the regulation of WT Kv11.1 protein trafficking early in the secretory pathway. We also summarize the findings of several studies that investigate trafficking deficient LQT2-causing mutations.



Fig. 1. A historical timeline of clinically relevant events in the study and management of congenital LQTS.



Fig. 2. Mutation-specific differences in I_{Kr} differentially affect ventricular APs. Computational simulations of the membrane voltage (V_m) results, using the Soltis–Saucerman rabbit ventricular myocyte AP model, are illustrated for normal conditions (37 °C and 5.4 mM extracellular [K⁺], black traces) as well as following reduction in I_{Kr} by 30% (blue traces) or by 70% (red traces). Dashed lines represent 0 mV or 0 pA levels in V_m and I_{Kr} recordings, respectively. The duration of the steady-state ventricular AP at 90% repolarization (APD90) is plotted as a function of cycle length to predict the absolute changes at different heart rates.



Fig. 3. Most LOF LQT2-linked missense mutations are trafficking deficient. The diagram illustrates a Kv11.1a α -subunit with an intracellular NH₂ terminus (N₁), six transmembrane segments (S1–S6), and the COOH terminus (C₁₁₅₉). The relative locations of different LQT2 Kv11.1a missense mutations are shown. Mutations that primarily disrupt Kv11.1a trafficking, gating, and ion permeation are shown by black, red, and blue circles, respectively. Functionally normal variants are shown by white circles. Most of the trafficking deficient mutations are located in the Per-Arnt-Sim domain (PASD) in the N-terminus, pore domain (S5–S6), or the cyclic nucleotide-binding domain (CNBD) in the COOH-terminus. Dashed boxes indicate the location of PASD and CNBD domains. See the study by Anderson and colleagues (2014) for specific details [28].

2. Kv11.1 biogenesis and ER export

2.1. K^+ channel biogenesis

A single Kv α -subunit contains cytosolic amino (NH₂) and carboxy (COOH) termini and six α -helical transmembrane segments (S1–S6; Fig. 3) [17]. Electron density maps of crystalized Kv channels suggest that each α -subunit has a voltage-sensor domain formed by S1–S4 and a pore domain formed by S5 and S6 [29]. The sequence of events during Kv channel biogenesis (based on previous findings investigating Shaker K⁺ channels) consists of the following steps: (1) membrane insertion and asparagine-linked (N-linked) "core" glycosylation, (2) oligomerization of α - and auxiliary subunits, (3) formation of the voltage-sensor and pore domains, and (4) juxtapositioning of adjacent amino (NH₂) and carboxy (COOH) termini [30]. A series of elegant studies demonstrate that Kv α-subunit secondary structures, including the tetramerization domain and transmembrane segments of the voltage sensor, begin to form inside the ribosomal tunnel during translation [31-36]. Even the S3-S4 hairpin "paddle" of the voltagesensor forms near the exit of the ribosome tunnel [35]. These preformed secondary structures probably influence subsequent tertiary folding, timing and efficiency of membrane insertion events, and subunit co-assembly [32,36]. Therefore, it is not surprising that a single amino acid missense mutation can increase the probability of channel protein misfolding. Consistent with this concept, most class 2 LQT2 mutations localize to the highly structured regions in the Kv11.1a α-subunit, including the Per-Arnt-Sim domain (PASD) in the NH₂ terminus, the pore domain, and the cyclic nucleotide-binding domain (CNBD) in the COOH terminus (Fig. 3).

2.2. Kv11.1: assembly required

The I_{Kr} channel is a tetramer of *KCNH2* gene products and the KCNE2 encoded MiRP1 auxiliary subunit. MiRP1 is a single transmembrane spanning peptide that modifies Kv11.1 channel gating and associates with several other ion channels in the heart [37,38]. Most studies that investigate drug block of *I*_{Kr} or LQT2 mutations focus on the full-length, 15-exon, 1159 amino acid Kv11.1a αsubunit (hERG1a or KCNH2a; Fig. 3). A second KCNH2 gene product, the Kv11.1b α-subunit, is generated from an alternative start site on the 5' exon that reduces the protein size by deleting exons 1-5 (hERG1b or KCNH2b) [39]. Alternative splicing and polyadenylation of pre-mRNA can generate truncated versions of Kv11.1a and Kv11.1b transcripts (Kv11.1a-USO or Kv11.1b-USO) but these gene products are not functional [40,41]. Kv11.1a is the key functional α-subunit because Kv11.1b proteins are retained in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) unless they heterotetramerize with Kv11.1a proteins [42].

2.3. Chaperones facilitate Kv11.1a folding and degradation

The ER is a reticular network that extends from the nucleus to the cell periphery. It contains a variety of domains and compartments that participate in the biosynthesis of proteins and lipids, Ca²⁺ storage, apoptosis signaling, cellular quality control, ERassociated degradation (ERAD), and ER export. The environment in the ER optimizes nascent protein folding, assembly, and



Fig. 4. A simplified illustration of the regulation of Kv11.1a protein folding and ERAD by cytosolic chaperones. Several studies suggest that Hsp40 activates Hsc70 and CHIP to facilitate ubiquitination/ERAD of Kv11.1a protein (left). Ubiquitinated Kv11.1a protein is transported into the cytosol via the translocon, where it is degraded by the proteasome. In contrast, Hsp70, HOP, and Hsp90 play a reciprocal role promoting native folding of Kv11.1a proteins and export them via transitional ER elements called ER exit sites (ERES, right).

maturation, while the ER quality control system prevents the trafficking of misfolded or incompletely assembled proteins to their target membranes [43]. Some proteins fold efficiently into their correct or "native" configuration but others do not. Molecular chaperone proteins in the ER or cytoplasm interact with nascent proteins to facilitate the folding process or target misfolded proteins in the ERAD pathway (Fig. 4).

Several different chaperone and co-chaperone proteins that interact with Kv11.1a proteins have been identified. They include the ER lectin chaperone calnexin, the ER transmembrane chaperone 38-kDa FK506-binding protein FKBP8 (FKBP38), cytosolic heat shock proteins 40, 70, and 90 (Hsp40, Hsp70, and Hsp90), the cytosolic heat shock cognate protein 70 (Hsc70), the cytosolic cochaperone Hsp-organizing protein (HOP), the BCL-associated athanogene 2 (BAG-2), and the E3-ubiquitin ligase CHIP [44-46]. Ficker and colleagues (2002) were the first to demonstrate that Hsp90 is crucial for the maturation and trafficking of Kv11.1a channels to the cell membrane [44]. Unlike Hsp70 or Hsc70, which bind to most newly synthesized proteins, Hsp90 facilitates the folding for only a subset of specific proteins. Pharmacological inhibition of Hsp90 increases the ER retention and ERAD of Kv11.1a proteins. Iwai and colleagues (2013) show that Hsp90 expression increases the stability of Kv11.1a proteins by decreasing CHIPmediated degradation in the ERAD pathway (Fig. 4, right) [47].

The Hsp90 co-chaperone FKBP38 is also important for Kv11.1a channel protein stability. Walker and colleagues (2008) found that knocking down FKBP38 expression levels negatively affects Kv11.1a channel protein trafficking early in the secretory pathway [45]. In another study, Walker and colleagues (2010) show that the expression of different Hsp40 co-chaperones activate Hsc70 to destabilize Kv11.1a proteins by increasing CHIP-mediated ERAD (Fig. 4; left) [48]. Li and colleagues (2011) found that expression of Hsp70 exerts the opposite effect of Hsc70 and increases Kv11.1a protein stability [43]. Based on these studies, a simplified model of the cytosolic chaperone/co-chaperone network that regulates the stability and trafficking of Kv11.1a proteins is provided in Fig. 4. Hsp40/Hsc70/CHIP facilitate the ubiquitination and ERAD of Kv11.1a proteins, and Kv11.1a proteins are transported to the cytosol through the translocon and then degraded by the proteasome. Alternatively, Hsp70 couples to Hsp90 (presumably via HOP) to prevent the ERAD of Kv11.1a proteins by CHIP and promote their native folding (Fig. 4, right).

Calnexin plays an important role in the biogenesis and quality control of N-linked glycoproteins [49]. It interacts with glycan

moieties of newly synthesized glycoproteins until they are properly folded. If the glycoproteins fail to fold correctly, calnexin in conjunction with calreticulin can lead to their retention in the ER. Although the Kv11.1a α -subunit is synthesized in the ER as a ~135 kDa N-linked glycoprotein, the role that calnexin/calreticulin have in the ER retention of Kv11.1a is not clear [24,50]. N-linked glycosylation was initially thought to be obligatory for the ER export of Kv11.1a [51], but more recent studies show glycosylationdeficient Kv11.1a channels readily traffic to the cell membrane [52].

2.4. ER export

Once a protein achieves its native configuration, it is exported from the ER in transitional ER elements called ER exit sites (ERES). The small GTPase SAR1 initiates the polymerization of coatassociated protein II (COPII)-associated proteins at ERES [53,54]. As COPII transport vesicles pinch off of the ERES, GTPase-activating proteins (GAPs) hydrolyze GTP to GDP and SAR1 dissociates from the vesicle and the COPII vesicles mediate the trafficking of cargo proteins to the ER Golgi Intermediate Compartment (ERGIC). Kv11.1a proteins traffic out of the ER in COPII vesicles, because expressing a dominant-negative mutant of SAR1 prevents the ER export of Kv11.1a proteins to the Golgi apparatus and cell membrane [55].

In general, incompletely or misfolded proteins are retained in the ER because they are excluded from ERES. This is because incompletely or misfolded proteins interact with molecules in the other parts of the ER to prevent them from entering ERES and/or adaptor proteins in ERES selectively recruit only correctly folded proteins to ERES for export in COPII vesicles [49]. Consistent with the latter, Roti and colleagues identified a potential Kv11.1a adaptor protein, the Golgin-associated vesicular transport GM130 [56]. Their data suggest that GM130 interacts with the COOHterminus of Kv11.1a and participates in the tethering and/or targeting of Kv11.1a-containing vesicles within the Golgi apparatus.

Once Kv11.1a proteins traffic to the Golgi apparatus, they are terminally glycosylated to a \sim 155 kDa glycoprotein [50]. The majority of the 155 kDa Kv11.1a proteins in the cell reside in the cell membrane because they are susceptible to extracellular protease digestion [57]. Many studies infer the trafficking efficiency of Kv11.1a or identify class 2 LQT2 mutations by using western blot analysis to quantify the relative amount of the immature (135 kDa) and mature (155 kDa) Kv11.1 proteins (Fig. 5).

3. Molecular mechanism of class 2 LQT2 mutations

3.1. Class 2 LQT2 mutations

Class 2 LQT2-linked mutations decrease the folding efficiency of Kv11.1a proteins and increase their degradation in the ERAD pathway [44,58]. Some class 2 LQT2 proteins also activate ER stress pathways [59]. Not surprisingly, cell culture conditions that stabilize or facilitate the native folding of misfolded proteins can increase the trafficking and functional expression of most class 2 LQT2 proteins to the cell membrane (Fig. 5) [60,61]. Zhou and colleagues (1999) were the first to show that culturing cells at lower incubation temperature (26 °C) or in drugs that bind to Kv11.1a proteins and block I_{Kr} increase the cell membrane and functional expression of certain class 2 LQT2 proteins (temperature or pharmacological correction, respectively; Fig. 5) [60]. Subsequent studies show that the trafficking deficient phenotypes for many different class 2 LQT2 proteins undergo temperature and/ or pharmacological correction [28,62].



Fig. 5. A diagram of the Kv11.1 channel trafficking pathway. *KCNH2* is transcribed and spliced to mRNA, which is then translated in the ER as a core glycosylated Kv11.a α -subunit with a molecular mass of 135 kDa. It undergoes terminal glycosylation in the Golgi apparatus and its molecular mass increases to 155 kDa. Shown are representative Western blots for cells expressing WT Kv11.1a proteins or the class 2 LQT2 proteins harboring the G6015 mutation. In control conditions, the immunoblot of cells expressing WT Kv11.1a proteins contains both immature and mature forms (top solid arrow), whereas cells expressing the Kv11.1a proteins with the G6015 mutation generate only the immature form (bottom solid arrow). Incubating cells at 26 7C or in the I_{Kr} blocker E-4031 (E4) overnight increases the mature form in cells expressing the Kv11.1 proteins with the G6015 mutation (dashed arrow).

3.2. Temperature correction

Initial studies of different LQT2 proteins were done using heterologous expression in Xenopus oocytes [20]. These studies primarily focus on Kv11.1 channel gating and DN phenotypes [20,23,63]. However, Furutani and colleagues [61] found that the LQT2 mutation Gly601Ser (G601S) exhibits a large difference in the LOF phenotype when expressed in oocytes vs. mammalian cells. The reason for this discrepancy was unclear, but the authors speculate that it was secondary to the differences in the incubation temperatures of the different cells types. Zhou and colleagues (1999) found that lowering the incubation temperature of mammalian cells from 37 °C to 26 °C increases the terminal glycosylation and functional expression of the class 2 LQT2 mutant protein N470D [64]. Recently, Anderson and colleagues (2014) [28] performed a comprehensive analysis of LQT2-linked missense mutations and demonstrated a clear domain-dependence to temperature correction. Western blot analysis of cells expressing different class 2 LQT2 proteins show that the protein trafficking for 80% (40/ 49) of the mutations in the PASD, 20% (12/60) of the mutations in the pore domain, and 60% (15/24) of mutations in the CNBD increases at lower incubation temperatures [28].

3.3. Pharmacological correction

Zhou and colleagues (1999) also showed that culturing cells in $I_{\rm Kr}$ blockers (i.e. the class III anti-arrhythmic E-4031) improves the trafficking of some class 2 LQT2 proteins [60]. The amino acid residues Y652 and F656 in S6 of the Kv11.1a α-subunit pore domain are critical for the high-affinity block of $I_{\rm Kr}$ [65,66]. Ficker and colleagues (2002) found that pharmacological correction of class 2 LQT2 proteins is strongly reduced when F656 was mutated into a more hydrophilic cysteine [67]. Conversely, engineering second site mutations at Y652 mitigates the trafficking deficient class 2 LQT2 phenotype for several class 2 LQT2 proteins [68]. Taken together, these results demonstrate the significance of hydrophobic drug-pore interactions for increasing the trafficking

of class 2 LQT2 proteins and $I_{\rm Kr}$ block. Since these original reports, dozens of different trafficking deficient LQT2 proteins are shown to undergo pharmacological correction with $I_{\rm Kr}$ blockers [28]. Anderson and colleagues (2014) found that pharmacological correction also depends on the domain the mutation is located. Western blot analyses of cells expressing class 2 LQT2 proteins show that incubating cells in E-4031 causes pharmacological correction for 47% (23/49) of the mutations in the PASD, 33% (20/60) of the mutations in the CNBD [28].

It remains to be seen if the drug–channel interactions that improve the trafficking of LQT2 proteins can be dissociated from the interactions that mediate drug block of $I_{\rm Kr}$. This would have important implications as a potential therapeutic approach to improve mutant Kv11.1a protein trafficking in many LQT2 patients. There are currently several drugs that appear to improve LQT2 protein trafficking at drug concentrations much lower than the drug concentration needed to block $I_{\rm Kr}$. However, it is not clear whether these drugs normalize the trafficking of LQT2 proteins by binding to the intracellular vestibule or via other unidentified mechanisms [69,70]. These studies identify the potential for further development and application of pharmacological correction as a novel therapeutic approach in some patients/families with LQT2.

3.4. Subclasses of class 2 mutations

It should be noted that the trafficking or function of WT Kv11.1a proteins is not improved by incubation at lower temperatures or in the presence of drugs that cause temperature or pharmacological correction of class 2 LQT2 proteins [60,62]. This suggests that temperature and pharmacological correction specifically compensate for mutation-specific changes in the native folding of Kv11.1a proteins rather than simply increasing overall Kv11.1a protein stability [68]. This is consistent with the mutation- and domain-specific patterns of temperature and pharmacological correction [28,71]. For example, several class 2 LQT2 mutations located in the PASD and CNBD only undergo temperature correction, whereas none of the class 2 LQT2 mutations in the pore domain only undergo temperature correction. All of the pore domain mutations that undergo temperature correction also undergo pharmacological correction. Additionally, several class 2 LQT2 mutations in the pore domain only undergo pharmacological correction, but none of the class 2 LQT2 mutations in the PASD and CNBD show pharmacological correction only. All of the mutations in the PASD or CNBD that undergo pharmacological correction also undergo temperature correction. These domainspecific differences in correction suggest that temperature correction facilitates the folding of Kv11.1a proteins at multiple steps in the biogenic pathway (i.e. assembly, formation of the voltagesensor/pore domains, increasing the proximity of the NH₂ and COOH termini, etc.), whereas pharmacological correction facilitates folding of Kv11.1a intermediates late in the biogenic pathway (e.g., after the formation of the pore domain).

3.5. Chaperones interact with Kv11.1 channels affected by class 2 LQT2 mutations

Hsp90 is critical for folding and trafficking of WT Kv11.1a proteins. Therefore, it is not surprising that Hsp90 influences ER retention and ERAD of Kv11.1a proteins affected by class 2 LQT2 mutations. Several different class 2 LQT2 proteins remain tightly associated with Hsp90 and Hsp70 in the ER [44]. Temperature and pharmacological correction cause class 2 LQT2 channel-chaperone complexes to dissociate from one another. Iwai and colleagues (2013) found that Hsp90 overexpression decreases the binding of CHIP to the COOH terminus for several class 2 LQT2 proteins and increases the functionality of class 2 LQT2 mutant proteins that harbor a frameshift mutation in the COOH-terminus [47]. Overexpression of Hsp90 or the Hsp90 co-chaperone FKBP38 also increases the trafficking for several other class 2 LQT2 proteins [45,72]. Together the data suggest that Hsp90 might limit ERAD, stabilize Kv11.1a proteins, and facilitate the folding for certain class 2 LQT2 proteins.

The roles that Hsp40, Hsc70, and Hsp70 have on the trafficking of class 2 LQT2 proteins are less clear. Although expression of Hsp40 decreases the trafficking of WT Kv11.1a proteins in cells incubated at physiological temperature, expression of Hsp40 does not negatively affect WT Kv11.1a protein trafficking at lower incubation temperatures [48]. However, the expression of Hsp40 inhibits the temperature correction of class 2 LQT2 proteins with the G601S mutation. This means that subtle structural differences likely still exist between WT and some class 2 LQT2 proteins, even when cells are incubated at temperatures that promote correction. Li and colleagues (2011) found that the degree of Hsc70 association with different class 2 LQT2 proteins depends on the topological location of the mutation [43]. The level of Hsc70-associated is higher for class 2 LQT2 mutations located in cytosolic domains (i.e. NH₂ and COOH termini). Additionally, they found that heat shocking the cells (to increase Hsp70 expression) preferentially promotes the maturation of class 2 LQT2 proteins. These data raise the possibility that limiting the association of Hsc70 with Kv11.1a might have therapeutic potential for class 2 LQT2 mutations in cytosolic domains.

3.6. Sequestration of proteins affected by class 2 LQT2 mutations

Immunocytochemistry studies show that class 2 LQT2 channels are selectively stored in a microtubule-dependent ER compartment that colocalizes with the transitional ER marker BAP31 (but not the perinuclear ER marker calnexin; the ERAD domain marker Derlin: the ERES marker Sec31; or the ERGIC marker ERGIC-53) [73,74]. Studies show that incubating cells in brefeldin A (bfa, a fungal metabolite that inhibits the retrograde transport of proteins to the ER) and the microtubule depolymerizing agent nocodazole blocks ER export and causes export cargo to accumulate in large spherical or dilated ERES easily visualized using microscopy [73,75]. Treating cells expressing class 2 LQT2 proteins in bfa and nocodazole confirms that they are excluded from the ERES. Interestingly, Roti and colleagues (2002) show that several class 2 LQT2 proteins do not to bind to GM130 [56]. These data provide a working model whereby some class 2 LQT2 proteins are stored in a transitional ER compartment and excluded from ERES because they fail to associate with the putative Kv11.1a adapter GM130.

Studies show that pharmacological correction directly increases the trafficking of class 2 LQT2 proteins stored in the transitional ER compartment [60,74]. These findings are surprising because they suggest that a steady-state pool of class 2 LQT2 proteins exist in the ER that are not yet targeted for ERAD. The implications are that cells can be briefly incubated in $I_{\rm Kr}$ blockers to increase the functional expression of class 2 LQT2 proteins sequestered in the ER. Once the class 2 LQT2 proteins traffic to the membrane, they remain functionally active for several hours after the drug has been washed out [74]. These data provide an important proof of principle that $I_{\rm Kr}$ blockers can be acutely administered to cause pharmacological correction of class 2 LQT2 proteins and increase $I_{\rm Kr}$.

3.7. Patient-specific cellular models for class 2 LQT2

The ability to generate inducible pluripotent stem cell derived cardiomyocytes (iPSC-CMs) offers a new cellular platform for identifying patient-specific molecular mechanisms of LQT2 and developing personalized drug therapy [76]. Itzhaki and colleagues (2011) were first to obtain an iPSC line from a patient with the class 2 LQT2 missense mutation A614V [77]. The LQT2-patient derived iPSC-CMs show a significant prolongation of the AP, smaller $I_{\rm Kr}$, marked arrhythmogenicity, early afterdepolarizations (EADs), and triggered arrhythmias [77]. Importantly, the authors were able to use the cells to evaluate the potency of several pharmacological agents that worsened or mitigated the cellular LQT2 phenotype.

Bellin and colleagues (2013) developed patient-derived iPSC-CMs from a patient with the class 2 LQT2 mutation N996I [78]. They used targeted gene correction of the N996I allele to restore $I_{\rm Kr}$ density and normalize AP duration in this iPSC-CM line. Moreover, introducing the same mutation into human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) result in the development an electrophysiological phenotype similar to the one detected in iPSC-CMs from the patient. These data demonstrate that genetic modification of iPSC-CMs and hESC can clearly delineate the pathogenic cause underlying a patient's disease phenotype with a suspected LQTS-causing mutation.

Matsa and colleagues studied iPSC-CMs derived from a patient with the DN class 2 LQT2 mutation A561T [79]. They confirmed the class 2 phenotype in iPSC-CMs and used allelespecific RNA interference (RNAi) to selectively degrade mutant mRNA while leaving WT mRNA intact. Treating the LQT2 iPSC-CMs with the mutation-specific siRNA normalized the AP duration, increased $I_{\rm Kr}$, and decreased the frequency EADs. More recently, Mehta and colleagues (2014) studied iPSC-CMs derived from a patient with the related class 2 LQT2 mutation A561V [80]. They examined the relative expression of the A561V and WT alleles and found that the A561V allele is expressed at a higher level than the WT allele. Furthermore, they found that several quality control genes including cysteine proteases, Hsp90, Hsp70, and ubiquitin are up regulated in LQT2 iPSC-CMs compared to their levels in control cells. In an attempt to correct the class 2 LQT2 phenotype, the investigators incubated LQT2 iPSC-CMs with ALLN (N-[N-(N-acetyl-L-leucyl)-L-leucyl]-Lnorleucine), a calpain/proteasome inhibitor. ALLN incubation decreases the expression of several of the calpains, Hsp70, and ubiquitin genes, but increases the expression of Hsp90. Importantly, ALLN incubation increases the trafficking of the Kv11.1a proteins, increases $I_{\rm Kr}$, and decreases the AP duration in the LQT2 iPSC-CMs.

4. Conclusions

4.1. Summary

LQT2 is the second most common type of Romano Ward LQTS. It is caused by mutations in KCNH2 that primarily decrease the number of IKr channels in the cell membrane by disrupting channel synthesis (class 1 mechanism) or their trafficking (class 2 mechanism). Functional $I_{\rm Kr}$ channels in cardiac cells are generated by the co-assembly of Kv11.1a/Kv11.1b α-subunits and the auxiliary K⁺ channel subunit MiRP. The folding and ER export of Kv11.1a is dependent on Hsp90, and the stability/ERAD of Kv11.1a is regulated by its interactions with Hsp40, Hsp/c70 and the E3 ligase CHIP. Studies suggest that Kv11.1a is exported from the ER in COPII vesicles and its trafficking early in the secretory pathway is influenced by the putative adaptor protein GM130. Class 2 LQT2 mutations primarily occur in the PASD, pore domain, or CNBD. Incubating cells at reduced temperatures or in drugs that bind Kv11.1a and block I_{Kr} can correct the trafficking for many different class 2 LQT2 proteins. Some of these mutated proteins are excluded from ERES and become sequestered in the transitional ER compartment prior to being degraded via ERAD. The class 2 LQT2 mechanism has been verified in iPSC-CMs from a small number of different LQT2 patients. These studies show that targeted gene correction of the LQT2 mutation, siRNA knock down of the mutant mRNA, or incubating cells in drugs that inhibit calpain/proteasome degradation mitigates the LQT2 patient iPSC-CM cellular phenotypes.

4.2. In memoriam of Dr. Eckhard Ficker

Dr. Eckhard Ficker, one of the pioneers of Kv11.1 channel studies, passed away suddenly in 2013. He was the first to describe subclasses of class 2 LQT2 mutations [71], the role of Kv11.1a binding domain for pharmacological correction [67], and the regulation of Kv11.1a trafficking by Hsp90/Hsp70 [44]. He made several other seminal discoveries related to Kv11.1a channels [81–88]. Eckhard's work was always innovative and he was very helpful to many investigators. He will be sadly missed.

Conflict of interest

All authors declare no conflict of interest related to this study.

Acknowledgments

BPD was supported by research funding from Gilead Scientific and Kentucky Science and Engineering Foundation (KSEF-3139-RDE-017).

References

- Crotti L, Celano G, Dagradi F, et al. Congenital long QT syndrome. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2008;3:18.
- [2] Schwartz PJ, Moss AJ, Vincent GM, et al. Diagnostic criteria for the long QT syndrome. An update. Circulation 1993;88:782–4.
- [3] Sanguinetti MC, Jiang C, Curran ME, et al. A mechanistic link between an inherited and an acquired cardiac arrhythmia: HERG encodes the I_{Kr} potassium channel. Cell 1995;81:299–307.
- [4] Trudeau MC, Warmke JW, Ganetzky B, et al. HERG, a human inward rectifier in the voltage-gated potassium channel family. Science 1995;269:92–5.
- [5] Wang Q, Curran ME, Splawski I, et al. Positional cloning of a novel potassium channel gene: KVLQT1 mutations cause cardiac arrhythmias. Nat Genet 1996;12:17–23.
- [6] Donger C, Denjoy I, Berthet M, et al. KVLQT1 C-terminal missense mutation causes a forme fruste long-QT syndrome. Circulation 1997;96:2778–81.
- [7] Curran ME, Splawski I, Timothy KW, et al. A molecular basis for cardiac arrhythmia: HERG mutations cause long QT syndrome. Cell 1995;80:795–803.
 [8] Wang Q, Shen J, Splawski I, et al. SCN5A mutations associated with an
- inherited cardiac arhythmia, long QT syndrome. Cell 1995;80:805–11. [9] Tanaka T, Nagai R, Tomoike H, et al. Four novel KVLQT1 and four novel HERG
- mutations in familial long-QT syndrome. Circulation 1997;95:565–7. [10] Schwartz PJ, Ackerman MJ, George AL, et al. Impact of genetics on the clinical
- management of channelopathies. J Am Coll Cardiol 2013;62:169–80.
- [11] Priori SG, Wilde AA, Horie M, et al. HRS/EHRA/APHRS expert consensus statement on the diagnosis and management of patients with inherited primary arrhythmia syndromes: document endorsed by HRS, EHRA, and APHRS in May 2013 and by ACCF, AHA, PACES, and AEPC in June 2013. Heart Rhythm 2013;10:1932–63.
- [12] Romano C. Congenital cardiac arrhythmia. Lancet 1965;1:658–9.
- [13] Ward OC. A new familial cardiac syndrome in children. J Ir Med Assoc 1964;541:103–6.
- [14] Soltis AR, Saucerman JJ. Synergy between CaMKII substrates and betaadrenergic signaling in regulation of cardiac myocyte Ca(2+) handling. Biophys J 2010;99:2038–47.
- [15] Moss AJ, Zareba W, Kaufman ES, et al. Increased risk of arrhythmic events in long-QT syndrome with mutations in the pore region of the human ether-ago-go-related gene potassium channel. Circulation 2002;105:794–9.
- [16] Delisle BP, Anson BD, Rajamani S, et al. Biology of cardiac arrhythmias: ion channel protein trafficking. Circ Res 2004;94:1418–28.
- [17] Hille B. Ion channels of excitable membranes. 3rd ed. Sunderland: Sinauer Associates, Inc.; 2001.

- [18] Gong Q, Zhang L, Vincent GM, et al. Nonsense mutations in hERG cause a decrease in mutant mRNA transcripts by nonsense-mediated mRNA decay in human long-QT syndrome. Circulation 2007;116:17–24.
- [19] Stump MR, Gong Q, Zhou Z. LQT2 nonsense mutations generate trafficking defective NH2-terminally truncated channels by the reinitiation of translation. Am | Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2013;305:H1397–404.
- [20] Sanguinetti MC, Curran ME, Spector PS, et al. Spectrum of HERG K+-channel dysfunction in an inherited cardiac arrhythmia. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996;93:2208–12.
- [21] Satler CA, Walsh EP, Vesely MR, et al. Novel missense mutation in the cyclic nucleotide-binding domain of HERG causes long QT syndrome. Am J Med Genet 1996;65:27–35.
- [22] Li X, Xu J, Li M. The human delta1261 mutation of the HERG potassium channel results in a truncated protein that contains a subunit interaction domain and decreases the channel expression. J Biol Chem 1997;272:705–8.
- [23] Nakajima T, Furukawa T, Tanaka T, et al. Novel mechanism of HERG current suppression in LQT2: shift in voltage dependence of HERG inactivation. Circ Res 1998;83:415–22.
- [24] Zhou Z, Gong Q, Epstein ML, et al. HERG channel dysfunction in human long QT syndrome. Intracellular transport and functional defects. J Biol Chem 1998;273:21061–6.
- [25] Dausse E, Berthet M, Denjoy I, et al. A mutation in HERG associated with notched T waves in long QT syndrome. J Mol Cell Cardiol 1996;28:1609–15.
- [26] Chen J, Zou A, Splawski I, et al. Long QT syndrome-associated mutations in the Per-Arnt-Sim (PAS) domain of HERG potassium channels accelerate channel deactivation. J Biol Chem 1999:274:10113–8.
- [27] Yoshida H, Horie M, Otani H, et al. Characterization of a novel missense mutation in the pore of HERG in a patient with long QT syndrome. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 1999;10:1262–70.
- [28] Anderson CL, Kuzmicki CE, Childs RR, et al. Large-scale mutational analysis of Kv11.1 reveals molecular insights into type 2 long QT syndrome. Nat Commun 2014;5:5535.
- [29] Long SB, Campbell EB, Mackinnon R. Crystal structure of a mammalian voltage-dependent Shaker family K+ channel. Science 2005;309:897–903.
- [30] Schulteis CT, Nagaya N, Papazian DM. Subunit folding and assembly steps are interspersed during Shaker potassium channel biogenesis. J Biol Chem 1998;273:26210–7.
- [31] Kosolapov A, Deutsch C. Folding of the voltage-gated K+ channel T1 recognition domain. J Biol Chem 2003;278:4305–13.
- [32] Kosolapov A, Tu L, Wang J, et al. Structure acquisition of the T1 domain of Kv1.3 during biogenesis. Neuron 2004;44:295–307.
- [33] Lu J, Deutsch C. Secondary structure formation of a transmembrane segment in Kv channels. Biochemistry 2005;44:8230–43.
- [34] Tu L, Wang J, Deutsch C. Biogenesis of the T1–S1 linker of voltage-gated K+ channels. Biochemistry 2007;46:8075–84.
- [35] Tu LW, Deutsch C. A folding zone in the ribosomal exit tunnel for Kv1.3 helix formation. J Mol Biol 2010;396:1346–60.
- [36] Tu L, Khanna P, Deutsch C. Transmembrane segments form tertiary hairpins in the folding vestibule of the ribosome. J Mol Biol 2014;426:185–98.
- [37] Jonsson MK, van der Heyden MA, van Veen TA. Deciphering hERG channels: molecular basis of the rapid component of the delayed rectifier potassium current. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2012;53:369–74.
- [38] Abbott GW, Sesti F, Splawski I, et al. MiRP1 forms $I_{\rm Kr}$ potassium channels with HERG and is associated with cardiac arrhythmia. Cell 1999;97:175–87.
- [39] London B, Trudeau MC, Newton KP, et al. Two isoforms of the mouse ether-ago-go-related gene coassemble to form channels with properties similar to the rapidly activating component of the cardiac delayed rectifier K+ current. Circ Res 1997;81:870–8.
- [40] Gong Q, Stump MR, Dunn AR, et al. Alternative splicing and polyadenylation contribute to the generation of hERG1 C-terminal isoforms. J Biol Chem 2010;285:32233–41.
- [41] Kupershmidt S, Snyders DJ, Raes A, et al. A K+ channel splice variant common in human heart lacks a C-terminal domain required for expression of rapidly activating delayed rectifier current. J Biol Chem 1998;273:27231–5.
- [42] Phartiyal P, Sale H, Jones EM, et al. Endoplasmic reticulum retention and rescue by heteromeric assembly regulate human ERG 1a/1b surface channel composition. J Biol Chem 2008;283:3702–7.
- [43] Ellgaard L, Helenius A. Quality control in the endoplasmic reticulum. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2003;4:181–91.
- [44] Ficker E, Dennis AT, Wang L, et al. Role of the cytosolic chaperones Hsp70 and Hsp90 in maturation of the cardiac potassium channel HERG. Circ Res 2003;92 e87–100.
- [45] Walker VE, Atanasiu R, Lam H, et al. Co-chaperone FKBP38 promotes HERG trafficking. J Biol Chem 2007;282:23509–16.
- [46] Gong Q, Jones MA, Zhou Z. Mechanisms of pharmacological rescue of trafficking-defective hERG mutant channels in human long QT syndrome. J Biol Chem 2006;281:4069–74.
- [47] Iwai C, Li P, Kurata Y, et al. Hsp90 prevents interaction between CHIP and HERG proteins to facilitate maturation of wild-type and mutant HERG proteins. Cardiovasc Res 2013;100:520–8.
- [48] Li P, Ninomiya H, Kurata Y, et al. Reciprocal control of hERG stability by Hsp70 and Hsc70 with implication for restoration of LQT2 mutant stability. Circ Res 2011;108:458–68.
- [49] Zhou Z, Gong Q, Ye B, et al. Properties of HERG channels stably expressed in HEK 293 cells studied at physiological temperature. Biophys J 1998;74:230–41.

- [50] Petrecca K, Atanasiu R, Akhavan A, et al. N-linked glycosylation sites deter-
- mine HERG channel surface membrane expression. J Physiol 1999;515:41–8.
 [51] Gong Q, Anderson CL, January CT, et al. Role of glycosylation in cell surface expression and stability of HERG potassium channels. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2002;283:H77–84.
- [52] Barlowe C, Orci L, Yeung T, et al. COPII: a membrane coat formed by Sec proteins that drive vesicle budding from the endoplasmic reticulum. Cell 1994;77:895–907.
- [53] Barlowe C, d'Enfert C, Schekman R. Purification and characterization of SAR1p, a small GTP-binding protein required for transport vesicle formation from the endoplasmic reticulum. J Biol Chem 1993;268(2):873–9.
- [54] Delisle BP, Underkofler HA, Moungey BM, et al. Small GTPase determinants for the Golgi processing and plasmalemmal expression of human ether-a-gogo related (hERG) K+ channels. J Biol Chem 2009;284:2844–53.
- [55] Roti EC, Myers CD, Ayers RA, et al. Interaction with GM130 during HERG ion channel trafficking. Disruption by type 2 congenital long QT syndrome mutations. Human Ether-a-go-go-Related Gene. J Biol Chem 2002;277:47779– 85.
- [56] Rajamani S, Anderson CL, Valdivia CR, et al. Specific serine proteases selectively damage KCNH2 (hERG1) potassium channels and I(Kr). Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2006;290:H1278–88.
- [57] Gong Q, Keeney DR, Molinari M, et al. Degradation of trafficking-defective long QT syndrome type II mutant channels by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. J Biol Chem 2005;280:19419–25.
- [58] Keller SH, Platoshyn O, Yuan JX. Long QT syndrome-associated I593R mutation in HERG potassium channel activates ER stress pathways. Cell Biochem Biophys 2005;43:365–77.
- [59] Zhou Z, Gong Q, January CT. Correction of defective protein trafficking of a mutant HERG potassium channel in human long QT syndrome. Pharmacological and temperature effects. J Biol Chem 1999;274:31123–6.
- [60] Furutani M, Trudeau MC, Hagiwara N, et al. Novel mechanism associated with an inherited cardiac arrhythmia: defective protein trafficking by the mutant HERG (G601S) potassium channel. Circulation 1999;99:2290–4.
- [61] Anderson CL, Delisle BP, Anson BD, et al. Most LQT2 mutations reduce Kv11.1 (hERG) current by a class 2 (trafficking-deficient) mechanism. Circulation 2006;113:365–73.
- [62] Nakajima T, Furukawa T, Hirano Y, et al. Voltage-shift of the current activation in HERG S4 mutation (R534C) in LQT2. Cardiovasc Res 1999;44(2):283–93.
- [63] Akimoto K, Furutani M, Imamura S, et al. Novel missense mutation (G601S) of HERG in a Japanese long QT syndrome family. Hum Mutat 1998(Suppl. 1): S184–6.
- [64] Lees-Miller JP, Duan Y, Teng GQ, et al. Molecular determinant of high-affinity dofetilide binding to HERG1 expressed in *Xenopus* oocytes: involvement of S6 sites. Mol Pharmacol 2000;57:367–74.
- [65] Mitcheson JS, Chen J, Lin M, et al. A structural basis for drug-induced long QT syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000;97:12329–33.
- [66] Ficker E, Obejero-Paz CA, Zhao S, et al. The binding site for channel blockers that rescue misprocessed human long QT syndrome type 2 ether-a-gogo-related gene (HERG) mutations. J Biol Chem 2002;277:4989–98.
- [67] Delisle BP, Slind JK, Kilby JA, et al. Intragenic suppression of traffickingdefective KCNH2 channels associated with long QT syndrome. Mol Pharmacol 2005;68:233–40.
- [68] Rajamani S, Anderson CL, Anson BD, et al. Pharmacological rescue of human K (+) channel long-QT2 mutations: human ether-a-go-go-related gene rescue without block. Circulation 2002;105:2830–5.
- [69] Delisle BP, Anderson CL, Balijepalli RC, et al. Thapsigargin selectively rescues the trafficking defective LQT2 channels G601S and F805C. J Biol Chem 2003;278:35749–54.

- [70] Ficker E, Thomas D, Viswanathan PC, et al. Novel characteristics of a misprocessed mutant HERG channel linked to hereditary long QT syndrome. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2000;279:H1748–56.
- [71] Guo J, Zhang X, Hu Z, et al. A422T mutation in HERG potassium channel retained in ER is rescurable by pharmacologic or molecular chaperones. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2012;422:305–10.
- [72] Walker VE, Wong MJ, Atanasiu R, et al. Hsp40 chaperones promote degradation of the HERG potassium channel. J Biol Chem 2010;285:3319–29.
- [73] Smith JL, McBride CM, Nataraj PS, et al. Trafficking-deficient hERG K(+) channels linked to long QT syndrome are regulated by a microtubuledependent quality control compartment in the ER. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2011;301:C75–85.
- [74] Smith JL, Reloj AR, Nataraj PS, et al. Pharmacological correction of long QTlinked mutations in KCNH2 (hERG) increases the trafficking of Kv11.1 channels stored in the transitional endoplasmic reticulum. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2013;305:C919–30.
- [75] Dukhovny A, Papadopulos A, Hirschberg K. Quantitative live-cell analysis of microtubule-uncoupled cargo-protein sorting in the ER. J Cell Sci 2008;121:865–76.
- [76] Zhang J, Wilson GF, Soerens AG, et al. Functional cardiomyocytes derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells. Circ Res 2009;104:e30–41.
- [77] Itzhaki I, Maizels L, Huber I, et al. Modelling the long QT syndrome with induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 2011;471:225–9.
- [78] Bellin M, Casini S, Davis RP, et al. Isogenic human pluripotent stem cell pairs reveal the role of a KCNH2 mutation in long-QT syndrome. EMBO J 2013;32:3161–75.
- [79] Matsa E, Rajamohan D, Dick E, et al. Drug evaluation in cardiomyocytes derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells carrying a long QT syndrome type 2 mutation. Eur Heart J 2011;32:952–62.
- [80] Mehta A, Sequiera GL, Ramachandra CJ, et al. Re-trafficking of hERG reverses long QT syndrome 2 phenotype in human iPS-derived cardiomyocytes. Cardiovasc Res 2014;102:497–506.
- [81] Ficker E, Jarolimek W, Kiehn J, et al. Molecular determinants of dofetilide block of HERG K+ channels. Circ Res 1998;82:386–95.
- [82] Ficker E, Dennis AT, Obejero-Paz CA, et al. Retention in the endoplasmic reticulum as a mechanism of dominant-negative current suppression in human long QT syndrome. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2000;32:2327–37.
- [83] Ficker E, Jarolimek W, Brown AM. Molecular determinants of inactivation and dofetilide block in ether a-go-go (EAG) channels and EAG-related K(+) channels. Mol Pharmacol 2001;60:1343–8.
- [84] Ficker E, Kuryshev YA, Dennis AT, et al. Mechanisms of arsenic-induced prolongation of cardiac repolarization. Mol Pharmacol 2004;66:33–44.
- [85] Wang L, Wible BA, Wan X, et al. Cardiac glycosides as novel inhibitors of human ether-a-go-go-related gene channel trafficking. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2007;320:525–34.
- [86] Wang L, Dennis AT, Trieu P, et al. Intracellular potassium stabilizes human ether-a-go-go-related gene channels for export from endoplasmic reticulum. Mol Pharmacol 2009;75:927–37.
- [87] Dennis AT, Nassal D, Deschenes I, et al. Antidepressant-induced ubiquitination and degradation of the cardiac potassium channel hERG. J Biol Chem 2011;286:34413–25.
- [88] Dennis AT, Wang L, Wan H, et al. Molecular determinants of pentamidineinduced hERG trafficking inhibition. Mol Pharmacol 2012;81:198–209.